

All Theses and Dissertations

2015-12-01

The Effect of Aerobic Exercise Versus Inactivity on Nitric Oxide Concentration and Synthesis in an Elderly Population

Samantha Burton Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd



Part of the Exercise Science Commons

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Burton, Samantha, "The Effect of Aerobic Exercise Versus Inactivity on Nitric Oxide Concentration and Synthesis in an Elderly Population" (2015). All Theses and Dissertations. 6140. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/6140

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen amatangelo@byu.edu.



The Effect of Aerobic Exercise Versus Inactivity on Nitric Oxide Concentration and Synthesis in an Elderly Population

Samantha Burton

A thesis submitted to the faculty of
Brigham Young University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Ulrike Mitchell, Chair Gary Mack Brent Feland

Department of Exercise Sciences

Brigham Young University

December 2015

Copyright © 2015 Samantha Burton

All Rights Reserved



ABSTRACT

The Effect of Aerobic Exercise Versus Inactivity on Nitric Oxide Concentration and Synthesis in an Elderly Population

Samantha Burton
Department of Exercise Sciences, BYU
Master of Science

CONTEXT: Nitric Oxide (NO) is an endothelial-derived vasoactive molecule that causes an increase in blood flow and oxygen delivery to tissue. A reduction in NO bioavailability has been found to occur in adults over the age of 60 and can be reversed pharmacologically by improving NO synthase (NOS) activity. Reversing these age-related changes with alternative interventions, such as aerobic exercise, has shown some promising results.

OBJECTIVE: To quantify blood NO-bioavailability (as measured by blood nitrite levels) in a population of aerobically trained elderly men and compare these data to a group of age-matched, inactive individuals. In addition, we measured the cutaneous vasodilator response to local skin heating as a bioassay for NO-mediated cutaneous dilation.

SETTING: BYU Human Performance Research Center (HPRC).

PARTICIPANTS: 16 healthy elderly men (age = 66 ± 7.07 years) were divided into two groups based on physical fitness levels and estimated \dot{V}_{02} max in ml $O_2 \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot min^{-1}$ (Trained = 39.1 ± 1.21 , Untrained = 29.0 ± 2.70).

INTERVENTIONS: A blood sample was collected and analyzed for NO. A microdialysis study was performed and dialysate was collected at 32°C and at 42°C. During the heating process, skin blood flow (skin vasomotor activity) was monitored and reported as cutaneous vascular conductance (CVC).

MAIN OUTCOME MEASURES: Whole blood nitrite concentrations, pre- and post-heat nitrite concentrations, and CVC_{max} were compared between trained and untrained groups.

RESULTS: Whole blood nitrite concentration was similar in trained subjects and untrained subjects averaging 25.77 ± 6.75 and 21.43 ± 7.20 µM, respectively (F_{1,13} = 0.19; P = 0.6671]. Local skin heating had no impact on the concentration of nitrite in dialysate samples ([NOx]_{dialysate} F_{1,26} = 0.01; P = 0.7567). In addition, the plateau in % CVC_{max} following 30 minutes of local heating was similar for trained and untrained subjects averaging 67.7 ± 5.8 and 68.0 ± 6.2 % CVC_{max}, respectively (F_{1,13} = 0.00; P = 0.9673).

CONCLUSIONS: The results of this study indicate that age-mediated reductions in whole blood NO-bioavailability and decrements in NO-mediated cutaneous vasodilation during local heating were similar in aerobically fit and sedentary adults 60 years old or older. We conclude that a commitment to aerobic fitness was unable to overcome the age-related dysfunction of the NOS system.

Keywords: microdialysis, skin vasomotor activity, cutaneous vascular conductance



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to thank my committee for their assistance in this project, especially Dr.

Ulrike Mitchell and her continued confidence and support. Thanks to Dr. Chris Gordon for providing physician support and participating in the patient screening process and to Dr. Dennis Eggett for his assistance with the statistics.

I would also like to thank Jeff Hurst and his family for dedicating so much time and effort to helping me find subjects and for accommodating my many trips to Provo.

I would like to extend my gratitude to my mom, Stacey, for her generosity as I used her airline benefits to travel approximately 24,680 air miles to finish this project.

Finally, to my husband, Jason, for his patience and continued enthusiasm for science—thank you for pushing me to finish.



Table of Contents

Title Page	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
Table of Contents	iv
List of Tables	V
Introduction	1
Methods	2
Subjects	2
Procedures	3
Blood and Dialysate Analysis	7
Statistical Analysis	7
Results	8
Discussion	8
Conclusion	11
References	12



List of Tables

Table 1. Subject characteristics.	. 15
Table 2. Normalized skin blood flow and nitric oxide response to local heating	. 16



Introduction

Nitric oxide (NO) is an endothelial-derived vasoactive molecule that causes an increase in blood flow and oxygen delivery to tissue. The benefits of increasing the bioavailability of NO in circulation of the blood via various treatments (8, 15, 21, 26, 33, 38) can improve vascular function (21) and blood pressure regulation (44, 45) which can lead to a range of health benefits, especially in the elderly. Alternatively, a reduction in NO bioavailability can reduce oxygen delivery contributing to the development of hypertension (6), coronary artery disease (24), or congestive heart failure (30). Reduced NO bioavailability can be caused by a reduction in the activity of vascular endothelial cell nitric oxide synthase (NOS) (39). This latter problem is typically seen in the cutaneous circulation of adults over the age of 60 years (2, 18, 34, 39) and can be reversed by pharmacologically improving nitric oxide synthase activity (1, 3, 16, 39, 45).

Reversing age-related declines in NO bioavailability and/or NOS activity using nonpharmacological interventions, such as aerobic exercise, has shown some promising results; for example, bioavailable NO was increased following several weeks of aerobic exercise training in older adults (> 60 years old) (3, 8, 13). The authors speculated that aerobic exercise elevated NO production from endothelial cells due to increased vascular shear forces during exercise. Zago et al. (45) showed an acute increase in whole blood NO bioavailability measured as a change in total blood nitrite concentration. NO is highly reactive and is quickly oxidized to nitrite (4) thus blood nitrite levels are measured as an assessment of NO bioavailability in the blood. This change was measured at rest and during exercise after a few months of aerobic training in a group of formerly sedentary elderly adults. An alternative method to evaluate changes in NO bioavailability is to examine the cutaneous vasodilator response to local heating. The plateau in the amount of skin vasomotor activity during 30–40 minutes of local heating is



primarily mediated (> 90%) by NO (13). An attenuated plateau in skin vasomotor activity during local skin heating is noted in older adults and reflects a reduction in endothelium-dependent vasodilation (2, 18, 19).

While we know that the NO-dependent vasodilator response to local skin heating is decreased in the elderly (2, 18, 19), it is unclear if this decrement is reversed in elderly subjects with an active lifestyle. The purpose of our study was to quantify blood NO bioavailability (as measured by blood nitrite levels) in a population of aerobically trained elderly men as compared to a group of age-matched, sedentary elderly individuals. In addition, we measured the cutaneous vasodilator response to local skin heating as a bioassay for NO-mediated cutaneous dilation. We tested the hypothesis that active elderly individuals have a greater amount of bioavailable NO in whole blood and have a larger NO-mediated cutaneous vasodilation during local heat stress compared to their inactive elderly counterparts.

Methods

Subjects

We recruited men over the age of 60 years. All subjects were required to be generally healthy, normotensive or pre-hypertensive, nonsmokers, not diabetic, and not taking any medications that could alter blood flow. During the prescreen interview, we asked detailed questions about their physical activity habits—type of exercise, frequency, and how many years they have consistently participated. If the subject reported that they were sedentary, we asked how long they had been inactive and if there was an event such as an injury or illness that caused them to cease exercise.

A physician confirmed the health status of all individuals prior to participation.

Institutional Review Board approval was obtained, and each subject gave written informed



consent before participation. Subjects who volunteered to participate in this study were asked to fill out a Rapid Assessment of Physical Activity questionnaire (42). This questionnaire was used to determine a basic, self-reported physical activity level. This assessment focused primarily on current activity level. If their responses placed them in the sedentary category (score of 1 or 2) or the active category (score 6 or 7) they met the first criterion for the study and were referred to the physician for further consideration. Individuals who scored a 3, 4, or 5 on the questionnaire were excluded from the study.

The physician reviewed the health history and medication usage of each person. If they had a significant health condition that may affect the results of this study (heart condition, disease, diabetes, or major surgical history) or were using medication that alters blood flow, they were excluded from the study. Blood pressure, heart rate, height, and weight were measured as population descriptors. Those subjects who met the all inclusion criteria and were medically cleared by the physician to walk on the treadmill were allowed to proceed with testing. Twelve subjects were rejected from this portion of the screening test.

Procedures

Subjects reported to the Human Performance Research Center to participate in a submaximal treadmill exercise test. The purpose of this test was to estimate $\dot{V}0_2$ max and to verify that the subjects' predicted physical activity score was matched to an appropriate level of aerobic fitness level. Heart rate was measured during treadmill exercise using an electronic heart rate monitor (Polar Heart Rate Monitor, Polar Electro Inc., Lake Success, NY) and maximal heart rate was estimated using the equation (35): $HR_{max} = 205.8 - 0.685*(age)$.

The submaximal exercise test began by walking for 4 minutes at a 0% grade at a self-selected comfortable speed (usually between 2 and 4.5 mph). Next, the grade of the treadmill



was increased to 5% while the speed was maintained. This pace and grade was maintained for 4–5 minutes with the heart rate of the patient measured at the end of minutes 3, 4, and 5. The average HR between minutes 3 and 5 was used to estimate $\dot{V}O_2$ max using the following equation (43): $\dot{V}O_2$ max (ml $O_2 \cdot kg^{-1} \cdot min^{-1}$) = 58.687 + (7.520 × Gender; 0 = woman and 1 = man) + (4.334 × mph) – (0.211 × kg) – (0.148 × HR) – (0.107 × Age).

Qualified subjects reported to the laboratory for the second visit having fasted for 8 hours and had a blood sample drawn for measurement of blood glucose and NO concentration. Those with fasting glucose levels of 126 mmol/L or higher were excluded from the study (12). At this point the subjects were divided into two groups: aerobically trained (n = 7, age = 66 ± 5 years, BMI = 25.7 ± 1.7 kg·m⁻², estimated $\dot{V}o_2$ max of 39.1 ± 1.2 ml·min⁻¹ · kg⁻¹) and sedentary controls (n = 8, age = 66 ± 9 years, BMI = 30.1 ± 4.6 7 kg·m⁻², estimated $\dot{V}o_2$ max of 29.0 ± 2.7 ml·min⁻¹ · kg⁻¹). Data from one untrained subject were removed from the results and statistics after it was discovered that he was taking medication that altered blood flow, leaving eight trained subjects and seven untrained subjects. A power analysis was completed prior to beginning the study to confirm that we would be able to detect a difference at .80 power at .05 level of significance.

Following the fasting blood glucose test, the subject assumed a semi-recumbent position in a comfortable room ($T_{room} \approx 21$ °C). After resting for at least 30 minutes, a 3 ml blood sample of blood was collected into a Li-heparin vacutainer. The blood sample was immediately combined with a nitrite preservation solution of 0.75 ml. The preservation solution consisted of 0.8 M ferricyanide, 0.1 M N-ethylmaleimide, and 500 uL IGEPAL®CA-630. The solution was gently inverted and then stored at -80°C until analysis.



Next, the subject was prepped for measuring the NO-mediated cutaneous vasodilator response to local heating. Two linear intradermal microdialysis probes (2.5 cm hollow fiber with molecular weight cut-off of 18 kilo-Dalton kDa) were placed in the dermis of the skin of the dorsal aspect of the nondominant forearm at <1 cm apart. The microdialysis probes were assembled in our laboratory, following guidelines established in previous research (11) and gas sterilized before use. Placement of the microdialysis fibers were performed by first inserting a 27 g 3.50 inch needle just underneath the skin (\approx 1 mm) with entry and exit sites approximately 3 cm apart. The microdialysis probes were threaded through the needle. Once the probes were threaded, the needle was carefully removed, leaving the probe in place. A 3 x 3 cm peltier controlled thermomodule was placed directly over the two microdialysis probes with a laser Doppler flow probe (model: VP7a, Moore Instruments, Wilmington, DE) placed in a central access point in the peltier. The peltier was secured to the forearm using a double stick disc. The laser Doppler output and thermomodule temperature were monitored using a Powerlab system (ADInstruments Inc., Colorado Springs, CO).

The microdialysis probes were flushed with sterile saline (5.0 μ l/ minute) for \approx 90 minutes with a computer controlled infusion pump to reach a plateau, which differed for each subject, (model VPF; Harvard Apparatus, Holliston, MA) while local skin temperature under the thermomodule was held at 32°C. An automated noninvasive brachial blood pressure monitor (model: Tango+, SunTech Medical Instruments, NC, USA) was placed on the dominant arm, opposite of the microdialysis site. The arm was placed in a relaxed, pronated position at heart level. Blood pressure was recorded every 5 minutes throughout the local skin heating protocol.

After 90 minutes of flushing with saline and maintaining a skin temperature of 32°C, we collected a preheating microdialysis sample. The microdialysis probes were perfused with sterile



saline at a rate of 1 µl/minute. The dialysate from the two microdialysis probes were collected into 1.5 ml amber Eppendorf tubes for 30 minutes. After the 30 minutes of collection at 32°C, the thermomodule temperature was increased to 42°C at a rate of 0.1°C per second and was held at 42°C for an additional 30 minutes. A second dialysate sample was collected throughout this 30-minute heating period while we monitored skin blood flow continuously using laser Doppler flowmetry. The dialysate samples were collected into Eppendorf tubes which contained the same nitrite preservation solution used for the whole blood sample in a 4:1 ratio (v/v). After collection, the dialysate samples were gently inverted and frozen at -80°C until analysis.

Following the collection of the pre- and post-heat dialysate collection, the microdialysis probes were perfused with 28 mM sodium nitroprusside (SNP) at 5µl/minute until a second plateau in skin vasomotor activity was reached, while maintaining the skin temperature at 42°C. Twenty-eight mM of SNP at a skin temperature of 42°C is sufficient to elicit a maximum cutaneous vasodilation (28). After a plateau was reached, perfusion of SNP stopped and a blood pressure cuff was inflated on the nondominant arm to occlude blood flow in the forearm. This provided a measurement of 0 skin vasomotor activity and was verified by the graph in the Powerlab system. Having both a minimum and maximal skin vasomotor activity value during each trial allowed for appropriate normalization of the skin vasomotor activity responses to local heating. Vasomotor activity in the skin was reported as cutaneous vascular conductance (CVC) by dividing skin vasomotor activity by the average mean arterial blood pressure during the local heating protocol. These data were normalized to maximal CVC and then expressed as percent of CVC_{max} (%CVC_{max}).



Blood and Dialysate Analysis

Each sample was rapidly thawed in a 37°C water bath, deproteinated with 100% methanol (1:1 vol:vol) and then centrifuged at 15000 rpm for 3 minutes. The supernatant was removed and placed in a clean Eppendorf tube. The Eppendorf tube was then centrifuged again and the supernatant transferred to a second tube for analysis.

Sample nitrite levels were detected using an ozone based chemiluminescence nitric oxide analyzer (Sievers Instruments, Boulder, CO, USA). Before analysis, the NO analyzer was calibrated according to the manufacturer protocols using 5 levels of sodium nitrite. The glass purge vessel contained a tri-iodide solution that consisted of 50 mg potassium iodide, 2000 µl of ultrapure water, and 5 ml of Glacial acetic acid. We performed each analysis in triplicate using 100 µl of the supernatant of the deproteinized blood sample and 10 µl of the supernatant of the deproteinized microdialysate sample.

We compared the results to the sample nitrite peaks on our calibration curve to determine the nitrite concentrations in each sample.

Statistical Analysis

Whole blood nitrite concentrations were analyzed using a one-way ANOVA. The preand post-heat dialysate samples were compared using a two-way ANOVA, concentrating on the interaction to see if there was a difference from pre- to post-heat nitrite concentrations for the trained versus the untrained population. A one-way ANOVA was performed on the $\%\text{CVC}_{\text{Max}}$ to compare the difference between trained and untrained individuals. The raw data for both the blood and the dialysate nitrite concentrations were not normally distributed. Therefore, a log transformation of the data was performed before performing the ANOVA. The level of significance was set at P < 0.05.



Results

Subject characteristics are presented in Table 1. The average age, BMI, DBP, and fasting blood glucose was similar in both trained and sedentary groups. However, the trained subjects had a higher estimated $\dot{V}0_2$ max and a lower resting SBP than the sedentary group (p < 0.05). The average fasting blood glucose levels were below 100 mg • 100 ml⁻¹ plasma indicating reasonable glucose control in all subjects.

Whole blood nitrite concentration was similar in trained subjects and untrained subjects averaging 25.77 ± 6.75 and 21.43 ± 7.20 μ M, respectively ($F_{1,13} = 0.19$; P = 0.6671). Local skin heating had no impact on the concentration of nitrite in dialysate samples ([NOx]_{dialysate}. Table 2, $F_{1,26} = 0.01$; P = 0.7567). In addition, the plateau in %CVC_{max} following 30 minutes of local heating was similar (Table 2) for trained and untrained subjects averaging 67.7 ± 5.8 and 68.0 ± 6.2 %CVC_{max}, respectively ($F_{1,13} = 0.00$; P = 0.9673).

Discussion

The purpose of our study was to evaluate the relationship between physical activity levels and bioavailability of NO in a population of elderly men. Understanding how aerobic exercise affects NO levels in men over the age of 60 could provide insight into the role of exercise on age-related vascular changes. Our data did not support the idea that aerobic training in the elderly influences resting [NOx]_{blood} or intradermal [NOx]_{dialysate}. In addition, we saw no improvement in the NO-dependent vasodilator response to local heating in aerobically trained elderly subjects.

Previous studies (18-20, 34, 36, 38) have documented an improved NO-dependent vasodilator response in elderly subjects following several weeks of aerobic training. Those studies typically used a mix of men and women and defined elderly as ages 50 and older. In contrast, we only used men and all subjects were \geq 60 years old. In older women, menopausal



status (premenopausal versus postmenopausal) and use of hormone replacement therapy can impact NO bioavailability. Menopausal status is the main factor explaining the gender differences of serum nitric oxide concentrations in middle-aged population (40). Tehrani et al. noted that the variability in [NOx]_{blood} in a middle-aged women was associated with menopausal status. Postmenopausal women had a higher [NOx]_{blood} than premenopausal women or older men.

The age range of subjects may have also impacted our findings. In normotensive or hypertensive elderly adults, a reduction in NO bioavailability is associated with a reduction in activity of the NOS pathway in vascular endothelial cells (39). These data indicate that NO bioavailability is compromised by the age of 60 years old (39). As such, we selected only subjects at 60 years and older. Previous studies, however, have used different criteria for defining the age of their subjects and this factor may account for how each study defines age-related change in NO bioavailability with aging. Kenney et al. compared the cutaneous vasodilator effect of heating on skin blood flow in older and younger men (18), defining younger men as ages 50–53. This group had the highest increase in skin blood flow (3.5 l·min⁻¹) while the older men (ages 61–73) had the lowest increase in skin blood flow (1.6 l·min⁻¹).

Our study used an ozone-based chemiluminescence detector to measure the [NOx]_{blood} levels. The majority of previous studies (26, 44, 45) have used chemical analysis (Griess reaction) to measure [NOx]_{blood}. Studies using the Griess reaction assay have yielded varying results. For example, Maeda et al. recruited 7 sedentary women, ages 59–69, and placed them on a 3-month aerobic exercise program (26). The [NOx]_{blood}, analyzed using the Griess assay, increased significantly. Zago et al. recruited 16 male and female subjects, ages 59 ± 6 years, placing them on a 6-month aerobic exercise program (45). They found no change in [NOx]_{blood}



using the Griess assay.

Local heat stress to the skin was used to assess vascular endothelial-mediated NO production in skin blood vessels and thus can serve as proxy to NO bioavailability. The normal response to local heating includes increased vasodilation through relaxation of the blood vessels and increased blood flow. The plateau in skin blood flow over a time period of 25–30 minutes (expressed as %CVC_{max}) is mediated primarily by NO and can be blocked by administration of a NOS inhibitor. In our study, the average CVC_{max} was similar for trained and untrained subjects $(67.7\% \pm 5.9\%)$ and $68.0\% \pm 6.3\%$, respectively). Nitrite concentration in dialysate of pre- and post-heating also failed to show a significant difference. Clough et al. (9, 10) reported basal concentrations of [NOx]_{dialvsate} of $0.63 \pm 0.09 \mu M$ and $0.49 \pm 0.06 \mu M$. Kellogg et al. (16) reported basal values of diffusible NO in cutaneous interstitial tissue of $0.54 \pm 0.11 \,\mu\text{M}$. In both of these studies, the amount of NO present in the tissue increased in response to heat or pharmacological agents known to activate the NOS pathway. In contrast, basal concentrations of [NOx] dialysate in the current study ranged from 2.45 to 2.72 µM. Crandall and MacLean (14) reported basal values of [NOx]_{dialvsate} of $7.6 \pm 0.5 \mu M$. The significance of the higher basal levels of [NOx]_{dialvsate} is that in these studies the NO levels were unchanged by whole body or local heating. The inability to increase [NOx]_{dialysate} during local heating may reflect the high basal levels of [NOx]_{dialysate}.

Minson et al. (28) tested the cutaneous vasodilator response to local heating in groups of young and old individuals. In the older group (5 men and 5 women, ranging in age from 69–84 years) the plateau CVC during 40 minutes of local heating averaged $61.1 \pm 4.5\%$ CVC_{max}. The local heat stress produced an average plateau of CVC levels at around 68% CVC_{max}, similar to



the data by Minson et al. (21) for a mixed group of older men and women. Our data indicate that the skin vasomotor activity response to local heating may not be improved by aerobic training.

Conclusion

The results of this study indicate that age-mediated reductions in whole blood NO bioavailability and decrements in NO-mediated cutaneous vasodilation during local heating were similar in aerobically fit and sedentary older adults (\geq 60 yrs). We conclude that a commitment to aerobic fitness was unable to overcome the age-related dysfunction of the NOS system.

References

- 1. Alessio HM. Exercise-induced oxidative stress. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 25: 218-224, 1993.
- 2. Armstrong CG, and Kenney WL. Effects of age and acclimation on responses to passive heat exposure. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 75: 2162-2167, 1993.
- 3. Ballermann BJ, Dardik A, Eng E, and Liu A. Shear stress and the endothelium. *Kidney International* 54: S100-S108, 1998.
- 4. Beckman JS, and Koppenol WH. Nitric oxide, superoxide, and peroxynitrite: the good, the bad, and ugly. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology* 271: C1424-C1437, 1996.
- 5. Calver A, Collier J, Moncada S, and Vallance P. Effect of local intra-arterial NG-monomethyl-L-arginine in patients with hypertension: the nitric oxide dilator mechanism appears abnormal. *Journal of Hypertension* 10: 1025-1032, 1992.
- 6. Clarkson P, Montgomery HE, Mullen MJ, Donald AE, Powe AJ, Bull T, Jubb M, and Deanfield JE. Exercise training enhances endothelial function in young men. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 33: 1379-1385, 1999.
- 7. Clough GF. Role of nitric oxide in the regulation of microvascular perfusion in human skin in vivo. *The Journal of Physiology* 516: 549-557, 1999.
- 8. Clough GF, Bennett AR, and Church MK. Measurement of nitric oxide concentration in human skin in vivo using dermal microdialysis. *Experimental Physiology* 83: 431-434, 1998.
- 9. Coglianese M, Draper DO, Shurtz J, and Mark G. Microdialysis and delivery of iontophoresis-driven lidocaine into the human gastrocnemius muscle. *Journal of Athletic Training* 46: 270-276, 2011.
- 10. Centers for Disease Control & Prevention. National diabetes fact sheet: national estimates and general information on diabetes and prediabetes in the United States, 2011. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention; 2011.
- 11. Cooper C, Vollaard NB, Choueiri T, and Wilson M. Exercise, free radicals and oxidative stress. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 30: 280-284, 2002.
- 12. Crandall C, and MacLean D. Cutaneous interstitial nitric oxide concentration does not increase during heat stress in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 90: 1020-1024, 2001.
- 13. Hayashi T, Nomura H, Osawa M, Funami J, Miyazaki A, and Iguchi A. Nitric oxide metabolites are associated with survival in older patients. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society* 55: 1398-1403, 2007.
- 14. Kellogg D, Zhao J, Friel C, and Roman L. Nitric oxide concentration increases in the cutaneous interstitial space during heat stress in humans. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 94: 1971-1977, 2003.
- 15. Kenney WL. Control of heat-induced cutaneous vasodilatation in relation to age. *European Journal of Applied Physiology and Occupational Physiology* 57: 120-125, 1988.
- 16. Kenney WL, Cannon JG, and Alexander LM. Cutaneous microvascular dysfunction correlates with serum LDL and sLOX-1 receptor concentrations. *Microvascular Research* 85: 112-117, 2013.



- 17. Kenney WL, and Ho C. Age alters regional distribution of blood flow during moderate-intensity exercise. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 79: 1112-1119, 1995.
- 18. Kenney WL, and Johnson JM. Control of skin blood flow during exercise. *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise* 24: 303-312, 1992.
- 19. Kingwell BA. Nitric oxide-mediated metabolic regulation during exercise: effects of training in health and cardiovascular disease. *The Journal of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology* 14: 1685-1696, 2000.
- 20. Lefroy DC, Crake T, Uren NG, Davies GJ, and Maseri A. Effect of inhibition of nitric oxide synthesis on epicardial coronary artery caliber and coronary blood flow in humans. *Circulation* 88: 43-54, 1993.
- 21. Maeda S, Tanabe T, Otsuki T, Sugawara J, Iemitsu M, Miyauchi T, Kuno S, Ajisaka R, and Matsuda M. Moderate regular exercise increases basal production of nitric oxide in elderly women. *Hypertension Research* 27: 947-953, 2004.
- 22. Minson CT, Holowatz LA, Wong BJ, Kenney WL, and Wilkins BW. Decreased nitric oxide-and axon reflex-mediated cutaneous vasodilation with age during local heating. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 93: 1644-1649, 2002.
- 23. Moncada S, Palmer R, and Higgs E. Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacological Reviews* 43: 109-142, 1991.
- 24. Osawa M, Hayashi T, Nomura H, Funami J, Miyazaki A, Ignarro LJ, and Iguchi A. Nitric oxide (NO) is a new clinical biomarker of survival in the elderly patients and its efficacy might be nearly equal to albumin. *Nitric Oxide* 16: 157-163, 2007.
- 25. Pierzga JM, Frymoyer A, and Kenney WL. Delayed distribution of active vasodilation and altered vascular conductance in aged skin. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 94: 1045-1053, 2003.
- 26. Robergs RA, and Landwehr R. The surprising history of the "HRmax= 220-age" equation. *Journal of Exercise Physiology* 5: 1-10, 2002.
- 27. Scremin G, and Kenney WL. Aging and the skin blood flow response to the unloading of baroreceptors during heat and cold stress. *Journal of Applied Physiology* 96: 1019-1025, 2004.
- 28. Taddei S, Galetta F, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Salvetti G, Franzoni F, Giusti C, and Salvetti A. Physical activity prevents age-related impairment in nitric oxide availability in elderly athletes. *Circulation* 101: 2896-2901, 2000.
- 29. Taddei S, Virdis A, Ghiadoni L, Salvetti G, Bernini G, Magagna A, and Salvetti A. Agerelated reduction of NO availability and oxidative stress in humans. *Hypertension* 38: 274-279, 2001.
- 30. Tehrani FR, Behboudi-Gandevani S, Ghasemi A, and Azizi F. Menopause status as the main factor explaining the gender differences of serum nitric oxide concentrations in middle-aged population. *Archives of Gynecology and Obstetrics* 291: 159-163, 2015.
- 31. Topolski TD, LoGerfo J, Patrick DL, Williams B, Walwick J, and Patrick MMB. Peer reviewed: the Rapid Assessment of Physical Activity (RAPA) among older adults. *Preventing Chronic Disease* 3: 2006.
- 32. Vehrs PR, George JD, Fellingham GW, Plowman SA, and Dustman-Allen K. Submaximal treadmill exercise test to predict VO2max in fit adults. *Measurement in Physical Education and Exercise Science* 11: 61-72, 2007.



- 33. Zago AS, Kokubun E, Fenty-Stewart N, Park J-Y, Attipoe S, Hagberg J, and Brown M. Effect of physical activity and t-786C polymorphism in blood pressure and blood flow in the elderly. *Arquivos Brasileiros de Cardiologia* 95: 510-518, 2010.
- 34. Zago AS, Silveira LR, and Kokubun E. Effects of aerobic exercise on the blood pressure, oxidative stress and eNOS gene polymorphism in pre-hypertensive older people. *European Journal of Applied Physiology* 110: 825-832, 2010.



Table 1. Subject characteristics

	Age	BMI	SBP	DPB	Glucose	Estimated Vo ₂ max
Group	years	kg•m ⁻²	mmHg	mmHg	mmol•L ⁻¹	$ml O_2 \bullet kg^{-1} \bullet min^{-1}$
Trained						
(n = 8)	66 ± 4.94	25.7 ± 1.71	$113 \pm 6.80*$	69 ± 4.88	98.3 ± 8.81	$39.1 \pm 1.21*$
Untrained						
(n = 7)	66 ± 9.20	30.1 ± 4.63	124 ± 12.59	72 ± 8.32	115.9 ± 8.93	29.0 ± 2.70

Values represent mean \pm 1 SD for each group.

BMI = body mass index; SBP = systolic blood pressure; DBP = Diastolic blood pressure;

 \dot{V}_{02} max = oxygen consumption.



^{*} p < 0.05 different from Untrained

Table 2. Normalized skin blood flow and nitric oxide response to local heating

	[Nitrite] _{Blood}	[Nitrite] _{Dialysate} Pre Heat	[Nitrite] _{Dialysate} Post Heat	Plateau CVC
Group	uM	uM	uM	% Max
Trained	μινι	μινι	μινι	/0 IVIAX
(n = 8)	2.72 ± 0.42	5.12 ± 0.37	4.94 ± 0.37	67.8 ± 5.9
Untrained				
(n = 7)	2.45 ± 0.45	4.94 ± 0.39	5.00 ± 0.39	68.0 ± 6.3

Values represent mean \pm 1 SD for 8 subjects in the trained group and 7 subjects in the untrained group.

CVC (cutaneous vascular conductance) % Max= SkBF/average mean arterial blood pressure *p < 0.05 different from Untrained

